
  1 

 

Agenda 

 
Contact Officer: Darius Zarazel, Democratic Services Officer, 
Democratic Services Officer 
Tel: 07917 088376 

 

E-mail: darius.zarazel@southandvale.gov.uk 
 
Date: 5 December 2022 
 
Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk 

 
 

 

A MEETING OF THE 
 

Planning Committee 

 

WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 14 DECEMBER 2022 AT 6.00 PM 
 

MEETING ROOM 1, ABBEY HOUSE, ABBEY CLOSE, ABINGDON, OX14 3JE 
 
You can watch this meeting via the council's YouTube channel.   
 

Members of the Committee: 

David Bretherton (Chair) 

Peter Dragonetti (Vice-
Chair) 
Ken Arlett 
Sam Casey-Rerhaye 

Victoria Haval 
Elizabeth Gillespie 
Lorraine Hillier 

Axel Macdonald 
Ian Snowdon 
Alan Thompson 

 
Substitutes 

Celia Wilson 
Stefan Gawrysiak 
Alexandrine Kantor 
Mocky Khan 

Jane Murphy 
Caroline Newton 
Sue Roberts 
Jo Robb 

David Turner 
Kellie Hinton 
Kate Gregory 

 

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on 
this agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting. 

 
 
 
 
 
Patrick Arran 
Head of Legal and Democratic 
 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ


  2 

 

1  Chair's announcements   
 

To receive any announcements from the chair and general housekeeping matters. 
 
2  Apologies for absence   

 
To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members. 
 
3  Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 5 - 14) 

 
To adopt and sign as a correct record the Planning Committee minutes of the meeting 
held on 23 November 2022.   
 
4  Declarations of interest   

 
To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests, other registrable interests 
and non-registrable interests or any conflicts of interest in respect of items on the 
agenda for this meeting. 

 
5  Urgent business   

 
To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent and to receive any notification of any applications deferred or 
withdrawn. 

 
6  Proposals for site visits   

 
7  Public participation   

 
To receive any statements from members of the public that have registered to speak 
on planning applications which are being presented to this committee meeting.   
 

Development control applications 

 
 

Planning applications - background papers and additional 
information 

 
All the background papers with the exception of those papers marked 
exempt/confidential (eg those held in enforcement files) used in the reports in this 
agenda are held in the application file (working file) referenced by the application 
number.  
 
Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be 
reported and summarised at the meeting. 
 
 

 



  3 

 

 
Summary index of applications 

 

 Site Address Proposal Application No Page 

 
     
8  P19/S4319/FUL 

- Gillotts 
School Gillotts 
Lane Henley-
on-Thames, 
RG9 1PS   

Boundary fence to enclose school 
together with vehicular and 
pedestrian accesses (as amended 
and amplified by information 
received 27 June 2022). 

P19/S4319/FUL 15 - 24 

 

     
9  P22/S2870/FUL 

- 2A Wilson 
Avenue, Henley 
on Thames, 
RG9 1ET   

Construction of a one-bedroom self-
build dwelling. 

P22/S2870/FUL 25 - 46 

 

     
10  P22/S3942/HH - 

49 Bishops 
Orchard East 
Hagbourne, 
OX11 9JS   

Conversion of existing garage to 
home office and store. 

P22/S3942/HH 47 - 56 

 
 
 
 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 23 November 2022 

Minutes 

of a meeting of the  

Planning Committee 

 
held on Wednesday, 23 November 
2022 at 6.00 pm in Meeting Room 1, 
Abbey House, Abbey Close, 
Abingdon, OX14 3JE 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Open to the public, including the press 
 

Present in the meeting room: 
Councillors: David Bretherton (Chair), Peter Dragonetti (Vice-Chair), Ken Arlett, Sam 
Casey-Rerhaye, Victoria Haval, Elizabeth Gillespie, Lorraine Hillier, Axel Macdonald, and 
Ian Snowdon 
Officers: Darius Zarazel (Democratic Services Officer), Paula Fox (Planning Manager), 
Paul Bowers (Planning Officer), and Max Gull (Planning Officer) 
 

Remote attendance: 
Officers: Susie Royse (Broadcasting Officer), Tom Wyatt (Planning Officer), Paul Lucas 
(Planning Officer) 
 

91 Chair's announcements  
 

The chair welcomed everyone to the meeting, outlined the procedure to be followed 
and advised on emergency evacuation arrangements. 
 
The chair then paid his respects to Paul Bateman, former democratic services officer 
servicing the planning committee, who passed away on 9 November 2022. The 
committee extended their well wishes to Paul’s family and held a moments silence in 
his memory.  

 

92 Apologies for absence  
 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Alan Thompson. 
 

93 Minutes of the previous meeting  
 

RESOLVED: to approve the minutes of the meeting held on 2 
November 2022 as a correct record and agree that the Chair sign 
these as such. 

 

94 Declarations of interest  
 

There were no declarations of interest. 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 23 November 2022 

95 Urgent business  
 

There was no urgent business. 
 

96 Proposals for site visits  
 

There were no proposals for site visits. 
 

97 Public participation  
 

The list showing members of the public who had registered to speak was tabled at the 
meeting. 

 

98 P22/S0093/FUL - Land adjacent to 5 St Annes Close, Access off Old 
Greys Lane, Henley-on-Thames, RG9 1XA  

 
The committee considered planning application P22/S0093/FUL for the construction of 
a dwelling with parking and associated landscaping (as amplified by transport 
statement received 11 July 2022 and amended by plans received 20 October 2022 to 
replace one front dormer with high level rooflight), on land adjacent to 5 St Annes 
Close, Access off Old Greys Lane, Henley-on-Thames.    
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history 
were detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the 
meeting.   
 
The planning officer introduced the report and highlighted that the application was 
brought to the committee due to the objection of the town council. The site itself was a 
long strip of land between Deanfield Avenue and St Anne’s Close, with most of it 
being taken up by a single-track lane serving existing properties and a Thames Water 
pumping station. The application would extend the lane to create the driveway and 
parking for the proposed development. The existing footpath would not be affected. 
The dwelling itself was proposed to be a three bedroom house and was considered to 
be sufficiently separated from 5 St Anne’s Close to avoid being overbearing with the 
window position meaning it would avoid material loss of privacy. 
 
A previous application for a single dwelling on the site was dismissed at appeal as it 
had unacceptable amenity space, especially regarding the shadowing of the site from 
the trees to the south. Due to the larger garden area proposed in this application, the 
planning officer believed that the planning inspectorate’s criticism had been 
addressed.  
 
As there were no objections from technical consultees and the development 
addressed the concerns by the planning inspectorate on the previously refused 
application, the planning officer believed that the new application was considered to 
be acceptable.  
 
 
Councillor Ken Arlett spoke on behalf of Henley-on-Thames Town Council, objecting 
to the application.   
 
Chris Keen, the agent representing the applicant, spoke in support of the application.   

Page 6



South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 23 November 2022 

 
 
The committee had conducted a site visit prior to the discussion of the application. The 
committee raised concerns about the potential loss of the public footpath and agreed 
that this should be retained. As the agent confirmed that the applicant would be willing 
to ensure the footpath was retained for public use, and improved, as part of their 
application, a new condition was agreed by the committee for footpath treatment and 
associated works on and off the site. In addition, the committee agreed that it would 
like to see this footpath adopted in the definitive map as a public right of way, 
therefore, the members also agreed to include an informative on the planning 
permission indicating the commitment of the agent to work with Oxfordshire Country 
Council, the local highways authority, to make this the case. 
 
On a question about potential flooding issues, the planning officer confirmed that the 
drainage engineers had not raised concerns. Members also asked about the stability 
of the bank and the planning officer believed that the retaining wall on the plans would 
deal with this issue but the committee agreed that it would like to see more detail of 
this retaining wall and therefore for this to be explicitly required in the conditions.    
 
Ultimately, as the site complied with the local plan policies and addressed the 
concerns that lead to the previous application being refused on appeal, the committee 
did not see any material planning reasons for refusal. Therefore, it was agreed that the 
application was considered acceptable subject to a new condition about footpath and 
associated works on and off site, inclusion of detail about the retaining wall in the 
boundary treatment condition, and an informative about the importance of ensuring 
the footpath would be adopted as a public right of way.  
 
 
A motion, moved and seconded, to approve the application was carried on being put 
to the vote.   
 
RESOLVED: to approve planning application P22/S0093/FUL, subject to the following 
conditions:  
 
1. Commencement of development within 3 years 
2. Implement development in accordance with approved plans 
3. Schedule of Materials to be agreed in writing 
4. Proposed levels to be agreed 
5. Rooflight serving bedroom 1 along the north elevation to be set at least 1.7 metres 
in height 
6. Landscaping schedule (including hardsurfacing, boundary treatment and details of 
retaining walls) to be agreed in writing 
7. Surface water drainage works (details required) to be agreed in writing 
8. Foul drainage works (details required) to be agreed in writing 
8. Vision splay dimensions to be agreed 
10. Turning Area & Car Parking to be implemented as per plan and remain 
unobstructed 
11. Contaminated Land – phased risk assessment 
12. Contaminated Land – remediation strategy 
13. Unsuspected Contaminated Land to be reported and mitigation agreed in writing 
14. Wildlife Protection measures to be implemented as per recommendations in 
supporting Ecological Appraisal 

Page 7



South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 23 November 2022 

15. Biodiversity Enhancement features as recommended in Ecological Appraisal to be 
submitted to and approved in writing 
16. Biodiversity Offsetting –certificate confirming the agreement of an Offsetting 
Provider to deliver a Biodiversity Offsetting Scheme to be agreed 
17. External Lighting – details to be agreed if proposed 
18. Withdrawal of permitted development rights for roof additions and alterations 
(Class B and Class C) to the front elevation 
19. Withdrawal of permitted development rights for outbuildings (Class E) 
20. Details of the realigned steps between Henley-on-Thames public footpath 6 and 
Makins Recreation Ground to be agreed and implemented prior to construction of the 
dwelling above slab level 

 
Informative – The applicant is advised to explore the possibility with Oxfordshire 
County Council of adding the existing path between Henley-on-Thames public 
footpath 6 and Makins Recreation Ground to the Definitive Rights of Way Map.   
 

99 P22/S0903/FUL - Poachers Cottage, Mays Green, RG9 4AL  
 

The committee considered planning application P22/S0903/FUL for the conversion of 
redundant barn to 1 x dwellinghouse (retention of existing portal frame as shown on 
amended floor plan received 5th August 2022 and additional structural information 
received 13 October 2022), on land at Poachers Cottage, Mays Green.    
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history 
were detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the 
meeting.   
 
The planning officer introduced the report and highlighted that the application was 
brought to the committee due to the objection of the parish council. The application 
was for the conversion of a barn to a one bed dwelling with the key issues of lighting 
and biodiversity net gain controlled through the proposed conditions. As the 
conservation officer believed that the distance between the proposed dwelling and the 
near grade 2 listed building was sufficient to avoid it detracting for its character, and 
highways also having no objection, the planning officer recommended that permission 
for the application be granted.  
 
 
A statement was read out on behalf of Councillor Kester George of Harpsden Parish 
Council, objecting to the application, as they were absent from the meeting.   
 
Charles Jamieson spoke objecting to the application.   
 
Paul Chaston, the agent representing the applicant, spoke in support of the 
application.   
 
 
The committee had conducted a site visit prior to the discussion of the application. The 
committee raised concerns about the plans for the conversion of the rarely used barn 
into a dwelling. Based on the site visit and the applicants’ submitted plans, members 
believed that there would need to be very extensive works done to make the barn 
habitable.  
 

Page 8



South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 23 November 2022 

The committee asked the planning officer about the definition of a conversion as they 
believed that very minimal material would be retained through the development. The 
officer confirmed that as the proposal would retain the frame of building it was 
considered a conversion, only if this was demolished would it be considered a new 
development. When asked, the planning officer also confirmed that if the applicant did 
need to demolish or remove the frame it would invalidate the planning permission as it 
would not be a conversion. As only the frame of the barn building was proposed to be 
retained, the committee still believed that the extent of the work necessary to convert it 
to a habitable dwelling would be excessive.  
 
The Neighbourhood Plan was also raised by members as it was believed that the 
application did not meet several policies in the document, primarily about the 
proposed development not being in character of the area. As this plan carries 
significant weight in planning terms, members mentioned this as supporting the case 
for refusing the application. The access onto the road and turning of the existing field 
into a garden were also raised as concerns as it was believed that the effect of the 
change from agricultural to residential would have a substantial effect. 
 
Overall, having regard to extent of works and alteration required, there was a concern 
about the impact this would have on the character and appearance of the area and 
that it would negatively effect the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 
 
 
A motion, moved and seconded, to refuse the application was carried on being put to 
the vote.   
 
RESOLVED: to refuse planning application P22/S0903/FUL, for the following reasons: 
 
The proposed development, through the extent of the works required to convert the 
building and the impact of the introduction of a separate residential use onto the site, 
would detract from the character of this part of the Chilterns AONB. As such, the 
proposal would fail to provide the landscape enhancement required by Policy H1 of 
the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 and would also conflict with Policies DES1, 
DES2 and ENV1 and Policy SD3 of the Joint Henley and Harpsden Neighbourhood 
Plan. 
 

100 P22/S2574/FUL - Lower Cross Farm Blewbury Road East Hagbourne, 
OX11 9LF  

 
In advance of this item, the committee adjourned for five minutes in order to take a 
short break.  
 
The committee then considered planning application P22/S2574/FUL for the erection 
of detached dwelling, with associated garage, access and turning space and 
landscaping (as amplified by additional energy information received 26 July 2022, 
archaeology information received the 29 July 2022 and ecological information 
submitted on the 21 October 2022 and amended by drawings altering the rear 
elevation, site area and amplified by arboricultural information accompanying email 
from agent received 27 September 2022) on land at Lower Cross Farm, Blewbury 
Road, East Hagbourne.    
 

Page 9



South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 23 November 2022 

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history 
were detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the 
meeting.   
 
The planning officer introduced the report and highlighted that the application was 
brought to the committee due to the objection of the parish council. The planning 
officer informed the committee that the site sat within the confines of the village, was 
surrounded on three sides by properties to the north, east, and west, and therefore fell 
within the definition of an infill site. Based on this, the planning officer was satisfied 
that the principle of the development was acceptable. 
 
The planning officer noted that the application was in a conservation area and that the 
conservation officer has been involved throughout the process and has no objection 
subject to a condition about the approval of materials. In addition, the highways 
authority did not object, subject to parking being retained within the site and the 
widening of the road leading to the dwelling to allow for two cars to pass. 
 
As the planning officer did not believe the development would be harmful to character 
or appearance of the surrounding area, nor cause material harm to the amenity of 
surrounding residents, and as there were no objections from technical consultees 
subject to conditions, the planning officer considered the application acceptable and 
recommended it for approval. 
 
 
Councillor Derek Button spoke on behalf of East Hagbourne Parish Council, objecting 
to the application.   
 
Robert Ainger spoke objecting to the application.   
 
Peter Crozier, the agent representing the applicant, spoke in support of the 
application.   
 
 
The committee asked about the proposed condition for the widening of the access at 
the point it joined the main road and agreed that it would like to see this condition 
moved from prior to occupation to prior to commencement. The reason mentioned for 
this change was that the widening would be very useful during the construction phase 
in order to allow for heavy vehicles to more easily enter the access road. The agent 
confirmed that this was acceptable. 
 
In addition, the members sought confirmation that the boundary on the south side 
would be retained as a hedge and that a fence would not be erected. The planning 
officer mentioned that this could be included in the proposed condition relating to 
landscaping and the agent for the application confirmed that they would be open to 
conditions about site boundaries and landscaping.  
 
The committee agreed with the planning officer’s recommendations that this would be 
considered an infill as it was surrounded on three sides, and that it was of no material 
harm to the surrounding area. Therefore, the committee agreed that the application 
should be approved, subject to conditions and the moving of the access widening 
condition to prior to commencement of works and for more detailed wording on the 
landscaping condition relating to the south boundary.  
 

Page 10



South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 23 November 2022 

 
A motion, moved and seconded, to approve the application was carried on being put 
to the vote.   
 
RESOLVED: to approve planning application P22/S2574/FUL, subject to the following 
conditions:  
 
Standard Conditions: 
1. Commencement 3 years - Full Planning Permission 
2. Approved plans 
 
Prior to commencement conditions: 
3. Landscaping Scheme (trees and shrubs and boundary treatments) 
4. Tree Protection (Detailed) 
5. Archaeological Watching Brief 
6. Archaeology (Submission and implementation of Written Scheme of Investigation) 
7. Construction zone – grass land 
8. Surface water drainage works (details required) 
9. Foul drainage works (details required) 
10. Access widening 
 
Prior to the relevant works being carried out conditions: 
11. Submission of material details 
 
Prior to occupation conditions: 
12. Energy Statement verification 
13. Wildlife protection (mitigation as approved) 
14. Biodiversity enhancements 
15. Parking & Manoeuvring Areas Retained 
16. Electric Vehicles Charging Point 
 
Compliance conditions: 
17. Withdrawal of Permitted Development right (Part 1 Class E) - no outbuildings etc 
18. Obscure glazing first floor side windows 

 

101 P22/S2552/FUL - 4 Barncroft Wallingford, OX10 8HN  
 

During this agenda item, the meeting length had reached almost two and a half hours. 
In accordance with the council’s Constitution, the committee agreed to extend the 
meeting in order to finish this item.  
 
The committee considered planning application P22/S2552/FUL for the sui generis 
change of use of the existing six person House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) (use 
class C4) to a seven person HMO (retrospective), on land at 4 Barncroft, Wallingford.    
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history 
were detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the 
meeting.   
 
The planning officer introduced the report and highlighted that this was brought to the 
committee as the applicant was a member of the council. The planning officer 
recommended that the application be refused due to the inadequate provision of off-
street parking.  

Page 11



South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 23 November 2022 

 
The planning officer informed the committee that the dwelling was converted into a 
‘house in multiple occupation’ (HMO) via permitted development rights. The applicant 
then received a licence for seven people to live in the home and a resident had since 
moved in. As the applicant did not get planning permission for the increase from a six 
to seven person HMO, this application was considered to be retrospective. 
 
The newly revised parking standards, adopted by the highway’s authority on 18 
October 2022, required 0.5 on-plot spaces per bedroom, meaning seven bedrooms 
would need 3.5 parking spaces. Based on this, and the known traffic problems in the 
area based on the site’s proximity to Wallingford school and additional parking 
restrictions along St Georges Road, the two spaces currently provided was considered 
inadequate off-street parking and led the planning officer to recommend that the 
application be refused. 
 
 
Richard Harding, speaking on behalf of the applicant, spoke in support of the 
application.   
 
 
The committee noted that the highways authority had no objection to the application 
and some members believed that the local public transport routes might provide 
sufficient special circumstances to overturn the officer recommendation and approve 
the application. Some members also mentioned that on street parking could be used 
as there were no restrictions on Bancroft and that parking issues might only occur 
during specific parts of the day, such as during the school run.  
 
However, the majority of members believed that the current six person HMO would not 
be approved if it required planning permission due to the property not being able to 
meet the correct parking standards for six occupants, and therefore that the 
application for increasing this to seven should be refused.  
 
A motion, moved and seconded, to approve the application was not passed on being 
put to the vote with the chair exercising his casting vote.  
 
 
The committee expressed concerns with the precedent of approving this application 
for the increase from a six to seven person HMO as the dwelling did not meet the 
required parking standard. Ultimately, based on this reason, the committee agreed 
that the application should be refused.  
 
 
A motion, moved and seconded, to refuse the application was carried on being put to 
the vote.   
 
RESOLVED: to refuse planning application P22/S2552/FUL, for the following reason: 
 
The site provides inadequate parking facilities for cars and will lead to 
indiscriminate/obstructive parking on the surrounding road network where parking 
restrictions are in place. The adjacent highway network is subject to high levels of on-
street parking pressure which would be further exacerbated by the proposal, resulting 
in increased physical and visual obstruction of the carriageway and pedestrian routes. 
The additional accommodation on the site would increase the risk to highway safety 

Page 12



South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 23 November 2022 

and to users of the highway contrary to policy TRANS5 and H17 of the adopted South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035, Policy MC5 of the made Wallingford Neighbourhood 
Plan and the NPPF. 

 
 
 

The meeting closed at 8.40 pm 

  

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 14 December 2022 

 

 
 APPLICATION NO. P19/S4319/FUL 
 APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION 
 REGISTERED 17.12.2019 
 PARISH HENLEY-ON-THAMES 
 WARD MEMBER(S) Stefan Gawrysiak 

Ken Arlett 
Kellie Hinton 
 

 APPLICANT Ms Anna Windsor 
 SITE Gillotts School Gillotts Lane Henley-on-Thames, 

RG9 1PS 
 PROPOSAL Boundary fence to enclose school together with 

vehicular and pedestrian accesses. (As 
amended and amplified by information received 
27 June 2022) 

 OFFICER Caitlin Phillpotts 
 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL 
 

1.1 The application is referred to Planning Committee because the Officer’s 
recommendation conflicts with the views of Henley Town Council.   
 

1.2 Gillotts School is a state funded secondary school with grounds extending to 
approximately 13 hectares, located on the south western outskirts of Henley-
on-Thames. The site fronts onto Gillotts Lane, beyond which lies open 
countryside and the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). 
Henley-on-Thames Footpath 21 and Henley-on-Thames Bridleway 20 lie 
immediately north of the site. The school and grounds contain a number of 
mature trees and shrubs some of which are protected by way of tree 
preservation Orders.  
 

1.3 The application seeks planning permission for the addition of a 2.4 metre high 
green metal perimeter fence. A copy of the plans is attached as Appendix A 
and other documentation associated with the application can be viewed on the 
council’s website, www.southoxon.gov.uk.  
 

1.4 This application was originally submitted at the end of 2019 when officers 
requested the submission of further information, including Tree Surveys and an 
Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS). Due to the COVID pandemic this was 
only submitted to the council towards the end of 2021. Following re-
consultation, revised plans and additional information including an adjusted 
location of the fence line to the front of the site. A Preliminary Ecological 
Appraisal was then requested. Additional information was submitted between 
June and September 2022. Finally, some changes to the submitted AMS were 
requested to reflect the updated scheme. This was forthcoming in November of 
2022.   

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 8

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S4319/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 14 December 2022 

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 
 

2.1 Henley-on-Thames Town Council –  
- Recommended refusal due to impact on the character of the area/AONB, 

the effect on local wildlife and proximity of the fence to the footpath 
- Recommended refusal -  original ground reiterated  
- Recommended refusal -  original ground reiterated 

 
2.2 Countryside Access  

- Comments with no objections on the grounds that the new fences do not 
encroach on the adjacent Henley Bridleway 20 and the attached 
informatives  

- No further comments  
 

2.3 Countryside Officer (South Oxfordshire)  
- Holding objection requesting a preliminary ecological appraisal, to 

determine if the proposed works would have any adverse impacts on 
priority habitats or protected species 

- Holding objection pending the submission of requested information  
- Comments with no objections subject to the attached conditions  

 
2.4 Forestry Officer (South Oxfordshire )  

- Requests the submission of an AMS  
- No objections subject to implementation in accordance with the 

approved details  
- Requests AMS is updated to reflect the amended plans / location of the 

fences  
- Comments with no objections subject to the attached conditions  

 
2.5 The Henley Society (Planning)  

- Objects commenting, the fencing would have a major deleterious effect 
on the appearance of the landscape, in particular along the well-used 
Peppard Lane bridleway but also on the on the hillside towards 

Harpsden village, which is within the Chilterns AONB 
- Objections remain adding concerns over the impact of the fences on the 

existing treescape  
 

2.6 Henley & Goring Ramblers  
- Notes the Bridleway Henley 20 is popular and well used by a wide cross-

section of the community and would like to see the semi-rural character 
of this footpath retained. Requests further clarification on the scheme 
proposed 

- Considers the proposal would have a negative visual impact on the 
character of the footpath area, and wider landscape setting of the AONB 
 

2.1 Neighbours 
Original submission  

- (1) Requests further clarification on the scheme proposed  
- (1) Comments with no objection subject to the trees being retained  

Page 16



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 14 December 2022 

- (14) Consider the proposal would have a negative visual impact on the 
character of the area (plus wider landscape setting) and detrimental 
effect on the existing trees, local wildlife. Noting the existing fences are 
often vandalised. Queries the legally correct boundary of the school 
property and notes the fences should not be erected on the adjoining 
bridle way  

 
June 2022 amendment  

- (1) No strong views noting existing fences are often vandalised  
- (1) Considers the proposed fences do not comply with the Department 

for Education Site Security Guidance, in that the fence and integrity will 
not be able to be checked easily or seen from the school grounds 
(12) Consider the proposal would have a negative visual impact on the 
character of the area and detrimental effect on the existing trees, local 
wildlife 
  

September 2022 amendment  
- (19) Consider the proposal would have a negative visual impact on the 

character of the area and detrimental effect on the existing trees, local 
wildlife 

 

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 

3.1 None  
 

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

4.1 Not applicable  
 

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE 
 

5.1 Development Plan Policies 
  
 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies: 

STRAT1  -  The Overall Strategy 
HEN1  -  The Strategy for Henley-on-Thames 
DES1  -  Delivering High Quality Development 
DES2  -  Enhancing Local Character 
DES3  -  Design and Access Statements 
DES8  -  Promoting Sustainable Design 
ENV1  -  Landscape and Countryside 
ENV2  -  Biodiversity - Designated sites, Priority Habitats and Species 
ENV3  -  Biodiversity 
TRANS5  -  Consideration of Development Proposals 
 

5.2 Joint Henley & Harpsden Neighbourhood Plan 
 
SCI1: Comprehensive Renewal of Gillotts School 
SD3: Local Character 
ENV2: Biodiversity 

Page 17



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 14 December 2022 

ENV3: Trees 
ENV4: Local Green Space 

  
5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 

 
 South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse Joint Design Guide 2022 

 
5.4 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance 

 
5.5 Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 

(As amended). 
 

5.6 Other Relevant Legislation 
 

 Human Rights Act 1998 
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in 
the processing of the application and the preparation of this report. 
 

 Equality Act 2010 
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. 

 

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 

6.1 The relevant planning considerations are the following: 
 

 Principle of development 

 Design and character 

 Trees and protected landscape features  

 Biodiversity and protected species  

 Residential amenity 

 Sustainability and carbon reduction  
 

6.2 Principle of development 
As noted in paragraph 1.6 of the Design & Access Statement submitted as part 
of this application The Department for Education (DfE) recommends that 
schools should be fenced with a secure fence or railings such as Weldmesh 
fencing to BS1722 or expanded metal or railings over 2.0 m high. This 
requirement can be viewed on - 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-and-collegesecurity/site-
security-guidance.  
 

6.3 In recognition of these requirements Part 2, Class A, of Schedule 2 of the Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (As 
amended) grants deemed consent for the erection, construction, maintenance, 
improvement or alteration of a gate, fence, wall or other means of enclosure, for 
a school up to 2 metres above ground level, provided that any part of the gate, 
fence, wall or means of enclosure which is more than 1 metre above ground 
level does not create an obstruction to the view of persons using the highway 
as to be likely to cause danger to such persons, where it restricts fences to one 

Page 18

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-and-collegesecurity/site-security-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-and-collegesecurity/site-security-guidance


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 14 December 2022 

metre high, when adjacent to a highway elsewhere. A full copy of this Class 
is attached as Appendix B.  
 

6.4 The erection of a two metre high fence along the perimeter of the site would fall 
within permitted development rights and would not require planning permission 
from the local planning authority. Due to the additional 40cm in height planning 
permission is required. Officers requested that the fences were moved away 
from the front boundary of the site along Gillotts Lane and secured a method for 
their implementation that would minimise the impact on the existing trees and 
ecological habitats on site.  
 

6.5 Design and character : fences to the north of the site  
I note the objections raised during the course of this application with regards to 
the visual appearance of the proposed green metal fencing, particularly to the 
north of the site along the boundary with the Henley-on-Thames Bridleway 20, 
beyond which lie the rear gardens of the dwellings fronting Makins Road. 
Having visited the site, I noted the rear gardens of Makins Road are lined, for 
the most part, with timber close board fences and this section of the bridleway 
is distinctly sub-urban in character. In this context and where the principle of 
new fencing up to two metres in height is permissible in principle, I do not find 
the fencing proposed would result in any significant harm to the character of the 
site or the adjacent public right of way.  
 

6.6 Design and character : fences to the front of the site (west) 
The school is accessible from Gillotts Lane beyond which lies the Chilterns 
AONB. Policy SCI1 of the Joint Henley & Harpsden Neighbourhood Plan 
(JH&HNP) looks to support the Comprehensive Renewal of Gillotts School 
where applications are able to demonstrate how the proposed development has 
appropriately: a) Screened the visual impact of any development from the 
adjacent AONB and prepared a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment as 
appropriate.  
 

6.7 This application is supported by a Design & Access Statement which looks at 
key views into and across the site. The proposed fencing would run across the 
front of the school buildings and then down through an existing area of 
woodland. Where the majority of the fencing along the frontage would be read 
against the built development across the school grounds, this section of fencing 
would be visually consistent with the existing character of the site and would no 
harm the existing character of the area or landscape setting of the Chilterns 
AONB. Where the fencing then runs through the existing area of woodland and 
is set back from the adjoining highway, this section would not be highly visible 
from the public vantage point and again I do not consider this element would 
harm the character of the site, street scene or wider surrounding Chilterns 
AONB.  
 

6.8 Design and character : fences to the south and east of the site  
The south and eastern boundaries of the site are flanked by areas of open 
countryside falling between Henley and Harpsden. Glimpsed views of the 
fences may be available from Harpsden (approximately 150 metres south of the 
site) and Henley-on-Thames Footpath 2 (approximately 450 metres east of the 

Page 19



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 14 December 2022 

site). However, as already stated, it is possible to install a two metre fence of an 
identical design without planning permission and I do not consider the 
additional 40cm in height would be perceivable from any public vantage point 
within the wider landscape.  I am satisfied that compared with the fall back 
position provided by Part 2, Class A of the Town & Country General Permitted 
Development Order 2015 (as amended) these sections of fencing would not 
harm the character of the site or the wider landscape setting.  
 

6.9 Having regard to the need for the fencing and the  fallback position, the 
proposals form an appropriate visual relationship with the existing school and 
its grounds and would not harm the character or appearance of the site or the 
wider surrounding countryside and setting of the Chilterns AONB. The proposal 
therefore complies with policies STRAT1, ENV1, DES1 and DES2 of the South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP), policies SCI1, SD3 and ENV4 of the JH&HNP 
and technical guidance set out in the South Oxfordshire and Vale of White 
Horse Joint Design Guide 2022 (SOVWHJDG). 
 

6.10 Trees and protected landscape features  
As commented by the council’s forestry officer, the site contains a number of 
trees some of which are subject to a tree preservation order (TPO). The 
construction of the fences and gates will be very close to a large number of the 
trees growing along the boundaries of the site. Comments submitted on 20 
January 2020 go on to note, ‘fences and gates could be constructed but 
particular care will be needed in siting the positions of the fence/gate posts to 
avoid any major tree roots. In addition, each post whole dug must be lined with 
a plastic non-permeable liner to prevent chemicals from the wet concrete 
contaminating the soil and poisoning the tree’s roots.’  
 

6.11 At the request of the forestry officer an Arboricultural Method Statement AMS 
was submitted in support of the application in November 2021. On review of 
this the forestry raised no objections to the proposed scheme, subject to the 
suggested tree protection (implementation) condition. Following the submission 
of the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA) and amendments to the line of 
fencing fronting Gillotts Lane, the submitted AMS was then amended to reflect 
the updated scheme. On review of the finally submitted document in November 
of 2022 the council’s forestry officer raises no objection to the development 
proposed. In light of this I am satisfied that the fences can be erected at the site 
alongside the retention of the existing trees and would not result in harm to the 
existing landscape features across the site which collectively make a significant 
contribution to the character of the site and surrounding countryside.  
 

6.12 Biodiversity and protected species  
In January of 2022 the council’s ecologist raised a holding objection noting ‘the 
proposed fencing would likely require concrete foundations to be built adjacent 
and through areas of woodland, some of which is subject to a TPO. The 
proposed works have the potential to damage tree roots and impact the 
woodland habitat. There are records of badger in the locality too, which if 
present in the woodland could be adversely impacted by the works. I 
recommend that proposal be supported by a preliminary ecological appraisal, to 

Page 20



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 14 December 2022 

determine if the proposed works would have any adverse impacts on priority 
habitats or protected species.’ 
 

6.13 This was submitted in September of 2022. On review of this document the 
council’s ecologist raised no objections to the proposed scheme subject to the 
suggested conditions commenting ‘surveys have concluded that impacts on 
protected species and unlikely that that impacts on the woodland habitat can be 
mitigated with sensitive working methods and mammal access gaps to preserve 
connectivity for species using areas of woodland. Small scale tree works may 
be required, but the removal of large trees is not proposed.’ In light of this I am 
satisfied that the development proposed can be implemented at the site without 
harm to any protected species and / or their habitats in accordance with policies 
ENV2 and ENV3 of the SOLP, policies ENV2, ENV3 and ENV4 of the JH&HNP 
and technical guidance set out in the SOVWHDG.  
 

6.14 Residential amenity 
I note the objections raised during the consultation process with regards to the 
impact of the fencing along the Henley-on-Thames Bridleway 20 to the north of 
the site, on the residential properties fronting Makins Road. Due to its height 
and scale glimpsed views of the fence may be available from the first floor rear 
facing windows and private rear gardens of these properties. However, I do not 
consider the fences would form an overbearing element along the shared 
boundary and am satisfied that the proposed development would not result in 
any harm to the amenity of the neighbouring properties in terms of light, outlook 
or privacy. 
 

6.15 Sustainability and carbon reduction 
Policy DES8 of SOLP states that all new development has to demonstrate how 
they are seeking to reduce greenhouse emissions through location, building 
orientation, design, landscape and planting. This is a modest proposal for the 
addition of gates and fences with no scope for reducing greenhouse emissions. 

  
6.16 Community Infrastructure Levy 

 
The proposed development is not liable to pay CIL.  

  
6.17 Pre-commencement conditions 

 
None  

 

7.0 CONCLUSION 
 

7.1 The proposal complies with the relevant Development Plan policies and, 
subject to the attached conditions, the proposed development would be 
acceptable in terms of its relationship to the character of the existing site, 
setting of the Chilterns AONB or the wider surrounding countryside at the edge 
of the settlement. It is also acceptable in terms of impact on residential amenity, 
the existing landscape features, protected trees, species and their habitats.  
 

 

Page 21



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 14 December 2022 

8.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 

 Planning Permission 
 1 : Commencement 3 yrs - Full Planning Permission 

2 : Approved plans * 
3 : Materials as on plan and supporting documents 
4 : Tree protection (implementation as approved) 
5 : Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy  
6 : Biodiversity Mitigation (Implementation) 
   : INFORMATIVE - Joint Henley & Harpsden Neighbourhood Plan 
   : INFORMATIVE - Route diversions (Public Right of Way) 
   : INFORMATIVE - Temporary obstructions (Public Right of Way) 
 

 

 

 

   

Page 22



Appendix A

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 8
P

19/S
4319/FU

L



(Page 39 of 271) 

PART 2 

Minor operations 

 

 

Class A  gates, fences, walls etc 

 

Permitted development 
 

A. The erection, construction, maintenance, improvement or alteration of a gate, fence, wall or 
other means of enclosure. 

 

Development not permitted 
 

A.1 Development is not permitted by Class A if  

(a) the height of any gate, fence, wall or means of enclosure erected or constructed adjacent to a 
highway used by vehicular traffic would, after the carrying out of the development, exceed  

(i) for a school, 2 metres above ground level, provided that any part of the gate, fence, wall 
or means of enclosure which is more than 1 metre above ground level does not create an 
obstruction to the view of persons using the highway as to be likely to cause danger to 
such persons; 

(ii) in any other case, 1 metre above ground level; 

(b) the height of any other gate, fence, wall or means of enclosure erected or constructed would 
exceed 2 metres above ground level; 

(c) the height of any gate, fence, wall or other means of enclosure maintained, improved or altered 
would, as a result of the development, exceed its former height or the height referred to in 
paragraph (a) or (b) as the height appropriate to it if erected or constructed, whichever is the 
greater; or 

(d) it would involve development within the curtilage of, or to a gate, fence, wall or other means of 
enclosure surrounding, a listed building. 

 

Interpretation of Class A 
 

A.2  

(a) premises which have changed use under Class S or T of Part 3 of this Schedule (changes of use) 
to become a state-funded school or registered nursery as defined in paragraph X of Part 3; and 

(b) a building permitted by Class C of Part 4 of this Schedule (temporary buildings and uses) to be 
used temporarily as a school, from the date the local planning authority is notified as provided in 
paragraph C.2(b) of Part 4. 

 

 

Class B  means of access to a highway 

 

Permitted development 
 

Appendix B

Page 24



South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee 14 December 2022 

 

 
 APPLICATION NO. P22/S2870/FUL 
 APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION 
 REGISTERED 9.8.2022 
 PARISH HENLEY-ON-THAMES 
 WARD MEMBERS Ken Arlett 

Kellie Hinton 
Stefan Gawrysiak 

 APPLICANT Mrs Vivienne Wheeler 
 SITE 2A Wilson Avenue, Henley on Thames, RG9 1ET 
 PROPOSAL Construction of a one-bedroom self-build dwelling. 
 OFFICER Paul Lucas 

 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL 
1.1 This application is referred to the Planning Committee due to a call-in from Councillor 

Arlett. The reasons for the call-in are: 

 the application is in line with JHHNP Policy H4 and SODC Policies DES7 and 
DES10. 

 all the other houses in the road have on street parking, this allows for one 
parking space if required. There is plenty of vision splay as it is a straight road 

This report sets out the justification for officers’ recommendation to refuse planning 
permission having regard to the development plan and any other material planning 
considerations. 
 

1.2 The application site is shown at Appendix A. The site lies at the eastern end of 
Wilson Avenue close to the junction of Reading Road. It originally formed part of the 
garden to 190 Reading Road, but is now in separate ownership to No.190, which has 
a reduced garden area adjacent to the north-eastern site boundary. The site is 
occupied by a flat roof garage and lean-to shed. It measures approximately 9m x 8m.  
 

1.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.4 

190 Reading Road forms the end of a two-storey terrace of six first-half 20th century 
properties, the gardens of which have a narrow private pedestrian rear access, and 
this bounds the south-western site boundary. Part of the rear garden of No.188 
Reading Road adjoins the north-western site boundary. On the other side of the 
private access, No’s 2 and 4 Wilson Avenue are a pair of first-half 20th century semi-
detached dwellings, set well back from the road, the style and age of which differs 
from the remainder of the 1920’s terraces on the north side of Wilson Avenue, which 
are located much closer to the road. The properties on the southern side of the road 
comprise semi-detached properties built in the late 1950s/early 1960s. There is a 
multi-stemmed Bird Cherry tree in the front garden of 2 Wilson Avenue which 
overhangs part of the red edge site area. The application site itself is bounded by 
fencing to rear and sides but there is a yellow brick wall to the Wilson Avenue frontage 
broken by timber gates. There is a drop kerb in front of the garage, with double yellow 
lines extending to the north-east. There are marked disabled parking spaces opposite 
the site. Many of the properties in the vicinity do not have off-street parking. 
 
The application seeks full planning permission for the demolition of the garage and 
lean-to and the erection of a one-bedroom dwelling with a basement level providing 
two floors and an off-street parking space, as shown on the current plans and 
supporting documents submitted with the application. A copy of the current plans is 
attached at Appendix B and other documentation associated with the application can 
be viewed on the council’s website. 

Page 25

Agenda Item 9

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P22/S2870/FUL
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P22/S2870/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee 14 December 2022 

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 
2.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.2 

Henley-on-Thames Town Council – Recommend Approval. 
 
Drainage (SODC) – No objection subject to surface-water drainage condition. 
 
Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) – Objection due to lack of 
achievable visibility splays and not an appropriate location for a ‘car-free’ development. 
 
Energy Assessor (ESE Ltd) – No objection subject to compliance condition. 
 
Forestry Officer (verbal advice) – Trees and shrubs adjacent to boundaries would be 
damaged, but of insufficient quality for statutory protection. 
 
Environmental Health Officer (verbal advice) – No objection. 
 
The Henley Society (Planning) - There is so much wrong with this application. The 
drawings mislead as there are cars shown parked outside the property (a double white 
line area) and there is no parking provision on site. Strong neighbour objections should 
be heeded, and we recommend refusal of a proposed cramped over-development. 
 
Third Parties – Seven representations of objection and concern and one of support, 
summarised as follows: 

 cramped development of this small site 

 unduly prominent and design out of keeping with the street scene 

 too close to neighbouring properties causing an oppressive and overbearing 
impact, loss of privacy, daylight, sunlight and noise and light pollution 

 would add to on-street parking issues 

 inadequate visibility splays and difficulty accessing parking 

 impact of car pollution from location of parking space 

 insufficient outdoor amenity space for future occupiers 

 damage to and loss of No.2’s tree resulting in loss of biodiversity and amenity 

 levels and steps unsuitable for elderly occupants and visitors 

 accessibility of waste bins for future residents 

 no electric vehicle charge point shown 

 noise from air source heat pump 

 glare from solar panels 

 concerns about flooding and drainage 

 issues arising from construction of basement 

 high quality architectural infill should be supported 
 
These representations can be viewed in full on the council’s website. 

 
3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
3.1 P21/S3570/FUL - Withdrawn (06/05/2022) 

Construction of a one-bedroom self-build dwelling. 
 
P11/E1706 - Refused (06/01/2012) 
Erection of one bedroom dwelling. 
 
P10/E0892 - Withdrawn (31/08/2010) 
One bedroom dwelling. 
 
P07/E0492 - Refused (25/07/2007) 
One bedroom detached dwelling. 

Page 26

https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P22/S2870/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P21/S3570/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P11/E1706
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P10/E0892
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P07/E0492


South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee 14 December 2022 

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
4.1 The proposed development is not Schedule 1 or 2 development as defined by the 

Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017, 
so an Environmental Impact Assessment is not required. 

 
5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE 
5.1 Development Plan Policies 

 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies: 
DES1  -  Delivering High Quality Development 
DES10  -  Carbon Reduction 
DES2  -  Enhancing Local Character 
DES5  -  Outdoor Amenity Space 
DES6  -  Residential Amenity 
DES7  -  Efficient Use of Resources 
DES8  -  Promoting Sustainable Design 
ENV1  -  Landscape and Countryside 
ENV12  -  Pollution - Impact of Development on Human Health, the Natural 
Environment and/or Local Amenity (Potential Sources of Pollution) 
ENV3  -  Biodiversity 
EP3  - Waste Collection and Recycling 
EP4  -  Flood Risk 
H1  -  Delivering New Homes 
H3  -  Housing in the towns of Henley-on-Thames, Thame and Wallingford 
H11  -  Housing Mix 
H12  - Self-Build and Custom-Build Housing 
HEN1  -  The Strategy for Henley-on-Thames 
INF4  -  Water Resources 
STRAT1  -  The Overall Strategy 
STRAT5  -  Residential Densities 
TRANS5  -  Consideration of Development Proposals 
 

5.2 Joint Henley & Harpsden Neighbourhood Plan 2022 
SD1: Minimising Carbon Emissions 
SD1a: Fabric First Approach 
SD1b: Other Methods 
SD3 – Local Character 
H4 – Infill and self-build dwellings 
ENV2 - Biodiversity 
ENV3 – Trees 
T1 – Impact of Development on the Transport Network 
T4 – EV Charging Points 
T6 – Parking and Standards 

  
5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 

 South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse Joint Design Guide 2022 
 

5.4 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance 
 

5.5 Other Relevant Legislation 
 Human Rights Act 1998 

The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report. 

 Equality Act 2010 
In determining this planning application, the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. 

Page 27



South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee 14 December 2022 

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
6.1 The relevant planning considerations are the following: 

 Principle of development 

 Design and character 

 Residential amenity 

 Access and parking 

 Other material planning considerations 
 

6.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.3 

Principle of development 
Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 
applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The development 
plan currently comprises the SOLP 2035 and the made Joint Henley and Harpsden 
Neighbourhood Plan 2016 (JHHNP 2016). The Review JHHNP 2022 proceeded to 
referendum on 24 November 2022 and now carries significant weight. Policy STRAT1 
of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP 2035) sets out the overall strategy for 
the District. It seeks to focus major new development at the growth point of Didcot with 
Henley, Thame and Wallingford also being a focus for development and regeneration. 
 
The site lies within the built-up confines of Henley, where residential development is 
acceptable in principle under the SOLP 2035 Policy H1 criterion iii) “it is development 
within the existing built-up areas of Towns and Larger Villages as defined in the 
settlement hierarchy provided an important open space of public, environmental, 
historical or ecological value is not lost, nor an important public view harmed”. Policy 
H4 of the JHHNP 2022 explains that “Infill housing developments and proposals for the 
construction of self-build dwellings within the built-up areas of Henley and Harpsden 
will be supported where it is demonstrated that the proposed development is in 
accordance with other relevant policies of the development plan.” The proposal 
involves the development of a plot of land in an established built-up area and so would 
not impact on any open space of value in accordance with the above policies. 
 

6.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Design and character 
The SOLP 2035 Policy DES1 seeks to ensure that all new development is of a high-
quality design. The SOLP 2035 Policy DES2 requires all new development to be 
designed to reflect the positive features that make up the character of the local area 
and should both physically and visually enhance and complement the surroundings. 
These requirements are reinforced by the JHHNP 2016 Policy DQS1 and the JHHNP 
2022 Policy SD3. 
 
The plot size would be significantly smaller than any other in the immediate vicinity 
and would result in a development sited very close to the street frontage. Although the 
footprint would be similar to the existing garage and store, the height of the roof would 
be increased by 0.8 metres (0.93 metres with the solar panels included) and the front 
building line would be wider. The combination of the small area of the plot, the 
proximity to the street and the enlarged building compared with that existing would, in 
officers’ opinion, produce a development that would appear unduly cramped, 
particularly in relation to the site boundaries. Officers recognise that the design is an 
innovative approach to addressing the site constraints. However, in officers’ view this 
results in a dwelling with an unduly prominent visual appearance, particularly the 
nearby junction between Wilson Avenue and Reading Road, that would be at odds 
with the established development pattern of early-mid 20th century housing in the 
vicinity of the site. 
 
 
 

Page 28



South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee 14 December 2022 

6.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.7 
 
 
 
 

Whilst the council’s Tree Officer considers that the trees and shrubs surrounding the 
site on adjoining land are not a constraint to development, these are likely to be 
compromised by the proposed development. This means that the Bird Cherry at No.2 
would be unlikely to provide any long-term softening of the proposed dwelling and 
there would be very limited scope for any replacement planting within the site to 
compensate for its loss. 
 
In light of the above assessment, in officers’ opinion the proposal would detract from 
the character and appearance of the surrounding area and would be in conflict with the 
SOLP 2035 Policies DES1 Criterion xiii) & DES2 Criterion 1., the JHHNP 2022 Policy 
SD3 and advice contained at Sections 5.0 & 5.4 of the JDG 2022. 
 

6.8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.9 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.10 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Residential amenity 
The SOLP 2035 Policy DES6 relates to residential amenity and requires that 
development proposals should demonstrate that they will not result in significant 
adverse impacts on the amenity of neighbouring uses, when considering both 
individual and cumulative impacts in relation to loss of privacy, daylight and sunlight, 
dominance or visual intrusion, noise or vibration, smell dust, heat, odour or other 
emissions, pollution, and external lighting. The SOLP 2035 Policy DES5 requires 
satisfactory outdoor amenity space in line with the guidance under Section 4 of the 
JDG 2022. 
 
Officers recognise that the design of the dwelling seeks to avoid direct overlooking of 
adjoining properties either from openings or external areas with the inclusion of screen 
walls. It is important to note that the first-floor level (‘Level 1’) would be set 0.535 
metres above the adjoining ground level, which contributes to the proposed dwelling 
being appreciably higher than the existing garage. The small size of the site means 
that increases in built form would be close to the boundaries with adjoining residential 
properties. The existing garage is adjacent to the boundary with No.188 Reading 
Road’s rear garden. The proposed dwelling would span less of the boundary but would 
be increased in height above the boundary fence. When combined with the excavation 
required to form the lower level of the dwelling, this would be likely to result in the loss 
of boundary foliage. The additional built form and loss of foliage would detract from the 
residential amenity of the garden of that property. The increased height of the building 
and the wall screening the front external area would result in increased enclosure of 
the front aspect of No.2 Wilson Avenue, detracting from the residential amenity of the 
occupiers. The raised level of the front entrance of the proposed dwelling would be 
within close to the boundary with the rear garden of No.190 would result in a 
perception of overlooking and loss of privacy to the occupiers. Officers remain 
unconvinced that the railings shown would be sufficient to alleviate this impact. 
 
Third parties have raised several other residential amenity concerns. Officers 
recognise that the building-to-building distance would be 8-9 metres, therefore less 
than the 12 metres specified in Figure 26 of the JDG 2022. However, the diagram 
depicts typical two storey buildings and as such this guidance would not be directly 
relevant to the proposal. Light spillage and glare from rooflights and solar panels would 
be unlikely to cause significant harm in a built-up area. Had the application been 
otherwise acceptable, a planning condition could have been imposed to require details 
of the air source heat pump to be submitted and agreed by the council to ensure it met 
the required standards for noise containment. Local residents have raised concerns 
about pollution from car exhaust fumes, due to the parking space being positioned 
adjacent to the boundary. However, the council’s Environmental Health Officer has 
advised that the vehicle manoeuvres associated with parking a car in this location 
would not give rise to a harmful level of emissions. 
 

Page 29



South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee 14 December 2022 

6.11 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.12 
 
 

Officers acknowledge that the amount of outdoor private amenity space serving the 
proposed dwelling would be about 19 square metres, below the 35 square metres 
recommended in Section 4 of the JDG 2022. However, given the site is in a 
sustainable location with good access to public open space, in this instance officers 
consider such a shortfall is acceptable. Officers also consider that any overlooking of 
these areas from adjoining properties would be typical of relationships in residential 
areas. The dwelling would have an internal floorspace which would comply with the 
minimum standard of 58m² for a one-bedroom two-person two-storey dwelling as 
required by the SOLP 2035 Policy H11 criterion 4. 
 
On the basis of the above assessment, the proposal would be contrary to the SOLP 
2035 Policy DES6 criterion ii). 

6.13 Access and parking 
 
 
 
 
6.14 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.15 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.16 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.17 
 
 

The SOLP 2035 Policy TRANS5 seeks to ensure that development would not be 
prejudicial to highway and pedestrian safety. This is supplemented by the JHHNP 2022 
Policies T1 and T6. 
 
The OCC Highway Liaison Officer (HLO) has commented that the walling fronting 
the property is to be reduced in height, however, given the proximity of the 
neighbouring boundary, which is outside of the applicant’s control, no visibility 
splays can be provided to the left-hand side on egress. Although there is already a 
garage in place that is unrelated to any of the surrounding properties, in this instance 
the proposal concerns a new access that would serve what officers consider to be a 
more intensive use of the land and as such is required to meet current dimensional 
guidance. As proposed, the lack of adequate visibility splays would result in increased 
risk to highway and pedestrian safety. Third parties have pointed out that wheeling the 
waste bins to the highway for emptying would only be possible when the car is not 
parked in the space and this would increase the number of vehicular movements. 
 
The submitted plans describe the off-street parking space as ‘optional’. The applicant 
has suggested that the proposal could be a ‘car free’ development with the dropped 
kerb being removed to increase on-street parking capacity. However, the HLO has 
commented that ‘car-free’ applications are generally supported in areas where there 
are on-street parking controls within the vicinity, Controlled Parking Zone and/or within 
a highly accessible location for example Duke Street in Henley. If the drop kerb were 
removed, the applicant would not have any right to use the highway land in front of 
their property or prevent others from using it. In any event, on-street parking in that 
location would be unviable due to the disabled parking space on the opposite side of 
the road. This is because when a vehicle is parked in this space, any vehicle parked on 
the road in front of the site would block the carriageway. Partial parking on the 
footway/carriageway would obstruct the footway. 
 
Officers are aware that vehicles on the northern side of Wilson Avenue park on the 
road, but many vehicles on the other side of the road park partially on the 
footway/carriageway. This results in obstructions to the footway that could be enforced 
against. Officers have also observed vehicles parking illegally on the double yellow 
lines and obstructing the footway in front of the site, both during daytime and in the 
evenings. This gives credence to the comments made by some third parties about the 
existing parking problems in the vicinity and that the lack of safe off-street parking for 
this proposal would serve to exacerbate these issues. 
 
Officers consider that the proposal would present an unacceptable increase in the risk 
to highway and pedestrian safety and thereby conflict with the SOLP 2035 Policy 
TRANS5 and the JHHNP 2022 Policy T6. 

Page 30



South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee 14 December 2022 

6.18 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.19 
 

Other material planning considerations 
The SOLP 2035 Policies DES8 & DES10 seek to ensure that all new development 
minimises the carbon and energy impacts of their design and construction and should 
be designed to improve resilience to the anticipated effects of climate change. These 
are reinforced by the JHNNP Policies SD1, SD1a and SD1b. The Energy Statement 
submitted in support of the application has been vetted and had the application been 
acceptable, a verification planning condition could have been imposed to require 
implementation details and a planning condition to secure an EV charge point could 
also have been secured through a planning condition in accordance with the SOLP 
2035 Policy TRANS5 ix). 
 
The council’s Flood Risk and Drainage Engineer has raised no objection to the 
proposal on flooding or drainage grounds, subject to a surface water drainage 
condition. The impact of the proposal on biodiversity in this built-up area is unlikely to 
be significant. Works associated with the construction of the basement would be 
administered under the Building Regulations 2022. 
 

6.20 Community Infrastructure Levy 
 The application is CIL liable at a rate of £150 per square metre (index linked), 25% of 

which would have gone to Henley Town Council due to the made neighbourhood plan, 
had the application been otherwise acceptable. 

 
7.0 CONCLUSION 
7.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.3 

The proposed development, through its size, position, and appearance, would be at 
odds with the established pattern of development, overly cramped in relation to its plot 
and unduly prominent in the street scene. The impact would be exacerbated by the 
likely loss of the adjacent tree and the lack of space within the site to provide any 
replacement landscaping. As such, the proposal would conflict with Policies DES1 and 
DES2 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 and Policies SD3 of the Joint Henley 
and Harpsden Neighbourhood Plan 2022 and advice contained within Section 5 of the 
Joint Design Guide 2022. 
 
The proposed development, through its size, position, and appearance, would result in 
increased built form close to the boundaries with adjoining residential properties. The 
increased height of the building compared with the existing garage adjacent to the 
boundary with No.188 Reading Road, combined with the excavation required to form 
the lower level of the dwelling, likely resulting in the loss of boundary foliage, would 
detract from the residential amenity of the garden of that property. The increased 
height of the building would result in an increased enclosure of the front aspect of No.2 
Wilson Avenue, detracting from the outlook and residential amenity of the occupiers. 
The raised front entrance of the proposed dwelling close to the boundary with the rear 
garden of No.190 would result in a perception of overlooking and loss of privacy to the 
occupiers. As such, the proposal would give rise to unacceptable impact on the 
amenity of future and existing adjacent occupiers, in conflict with Policy DES6 of the 
South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035. 
 
The proposed development would be unable to demonstrate adequate visibility splays 
for the proposed parking space. This would encourage future residents to park on-
street in a location where there is limited on-street parking capacity and evidence of 
indiscriminate illegal parking. It would therefore be an inappropriate location for a 'car-
free' development. As such, the proposal would present an unacceptable increase in 
the risk to highway and pedestrian safety, in conflict with Policy TRANS5 of the South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 and Policy T6 of the Joint Henley and Harpsden 
Neighbourhood Plan 2022. 

 

Page 31



South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee 14 December 2022 

8.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 Refusal of Planning Permission 
 1 : Character and Appearance 

2 : Residential Amenity Impact 
3 : Highway & Pedestrian Safety 
 

 

Author: Paul Lucas 

Email: Planning@southoxon.gov.uk 

Tel: 01235 422600 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 32

mailto:Planning@southoxon.gov.uk


Appendix A

Page 33

Agenda Item 9P22/S2870/FUL



Scale a A3

Drg.No

GIULIANI  ARCHITECTS
HENLEY ON THAMES  RG9 1ET UK
Email:           architects@giuliani.co.uk                         
Website:       www.giuliani.co.uk
Tel:                0044 1491 572601    

Notes

 1 : 500

Site Plan

Proposed:-
One Bedroom Dwelling

for:- Mrs Vivienne Wheeler

WA-VW-002

2A Wilson Avenue
Henley on Thames
RG9 1ET

Appendix B

P
age 34



Scale a A3

Drg.No

GIULIANI  ARCHITECTS
HENLEY ON THAMES  RG9 1ET UK
Email:           architects@giuliani.co.uk                         
Website:       www.giuliani.co.uk
Tel:                0044 1491 572601    

Notes

 1 : 100

Existing elevations

Proposed:-
One Bedroom Dwelling

for:- Mrs Vivienne Wheeler

WA-VW-004

2A Wilson Avenue
Henley on Thames
RG9 1ET

ELEVATION NORTH EAST

ELEVATION NORTH WEST

0 5 10 m

P
age 35



garden to 190 Reading Road garden to 188 Reading Road

Scale a A3

DateDrg.No

GIULIANI  ARCHITECTS
HENLEY ON THAMES  RG9 1ET UK
Email:           architects@giuliani.co.uk                         
Website:       www.giuliani.co.uk
Tel:                0044 1491 572601    

Notes

 1 : 100

Proposed Elevations

Proposed:-
One Bedroom Dwelling

for:- Mrs Vivienne Wheeler

.WA-VW-013B

2A Wilson Avenue
Henley on Thames
RG9 1ET

0 5 10 m

ELEVATION SOUTH EAST ELEVATION SOUTH WEST

ELEVATION NORTH EAST ELEVATION NORTH WEST

P
age 36



Scale a A3

Drg.No

GIULIANI  ARCHITECTS
HENLEY ON THAMES  RG9 1ET UK
Email:           architects@giuliani.co.uk                         
Website:       www.giuliani.co.uk
Tel:                0044 1491 572601    

Notes

 1 : 100

Existing-  Elevations
South East & South West

Proposed:-
One Bedroom Dwelling

for:- Mrs Vivienne Wheeler

WA-VW-005

2A Wilson Avenue
Henley on Thames
RG9 1ET

ELEVATION SOUTH EAST

ELEVATION SOUTH WEST

0 5 10 m

P
age 37



DN

B-B

WA-VW-014B

A-A'

WA-VW-014B

D-D

WA-VW-014B

C-C

WA-VW-014B

KITCHEN

DINING

LOUNGE

EN
TR

AN
C

E
LO

BB
Y

EXTERNAL
AREA

EXTERNAL
AREA

E-E

WA-VW-014B

GROUND LEVEL

MH

21.0m2

Bird Cherry

OPTIONAL VEHICLE
       PARKING

MH

Light

Light

LEVEL 1

2398

11
75

1986

Elevation Level 1 as P21/S3570

50
0

16
94

1213

15
71

-

---

-

---

-

---

Scale at A3

Drg.No

GIULIANI  ARCHITECTS
HENLEY ON THAMES  RG9 1ET UK
Email:           architects@giuliani.co.uk                         
Website:       www.giuliani.co.uk
Tel:                0044 1491 572601    

Notes

 1 : 50

Plan Proposed - Ground & Level 1

Proposed:-
One Bedroom Dwelling

for:- Mrs Vivienne Wheeler

.WA-VW-011B

2A Wilson Avenue
Henley on Thames
RG9 1ET

0 2.5 m 5.0 m

1   The suffix 'A' to the Drg. No. refers 
     to Amendments to the same 
     numbered drawing as per planning 
     application P21/S3570

2   Elevation South-East (at Level 1)
     set back 500mm. to allow additional
     vision splay from ground floor   
     window of No 2 Wilson Ave

3   Entrance Lobby 
     Roof height lowered & elevation to
     North East (& North West) reduced 
     in length, minimalizing impact of 
     volume

4   Dimensions relevant to North West 
     bounday shown

P
age 38



UP

UP

B-B

WA-VW-014B

A-A'

WA-VW-014B

D-D

WA-VW-014B

C-C

WA-VW-014B

BEDROOM

STUDY

SHOWER
ROOM

E-E

WA-VW-014B

45m2
Entertainment
& Recreation
Area

Storage

Storage

Escape

Escape

LEVEL  -1

LEVEL  -2

-

---

-

---

-

---

Scale at A3

Drg.No

GIULIANI  ARCHITECTS
HENLEY ON THAMES  RG9 1ET UK
Email:           architects@giuliani.co.uk                         
Website:       www.giuliani.co.uk
Tel:                0044 1491 572601    

Notes

 1 : 50

Plan Proposed Level -1 & -2

Proposed:-
One Bedroom Dwelling

for:- Mrs Vivienne Wheeler

.WA-VW-012B

2A Wilson Avenue
Henley on Thames
RG9 1ET

0 2.5 m 5.0 m

1   The suffix 'B' to the Drg. No. refers 
     to Amendments to the same 
     numbered drawing as per planning 
     application P21/S3570

P
age 39



Scale a A3

Drg.No

GIULIANI  ARCHITECTS
HENLEY ON THAMES  RG9 1ET UK
Email:           architects@giuliani.co.uk                         
Website:       www.giuliani.co.uk
Tel:                0044 1491 572601    

Notes

1 : 1250

Location plan

Proposed:-
One Bedroom Dwelling

for:- Mrs Vivienne Wheeler

WA-VW-001

2A Wilson Avenue
Henley on Thames
RG9 1ET

P
age 40



36.450
Level 0 GL

D-D

WA-VW-014B

E-E

WA-VW-014B

36.450
Level 0 GL

36.985
Level 1

34.450
Level -1

D-D

WA-VW-014BE-E

WA-VW-014B

36.450
Level 0 GL

36.985
Level 1

34.450
Level -1

D-D

WA-VW-014B

E-E

WA-VW-014B

23
88

B-B

WA-VW-014B

A-A'

WA-VW-014B C-C

WA-VW-014B

B-B

WA-VW-014B

A-A'

WA-VW-014B C-C

WA-VW-014B

sightline

Scale at A3

Drg.No

GIULIANI  ARCHITECTS
HENLEY ON THAMES  RG9 1ET UK
Email:           architects@giuliani.co.uk                         
Website:       www.giuliani.co.uk
Tel:                0044 1491 572601    

Notes

 1 : 100

Proposed Sections
A-A'/B-B'/C-C'/D-D'/E-E'

Proposed:-
One Bedroom Dwelling

for:- Mrs Vivienne Wheeler

.WA-VW-014B

2A Wilson Avenue
Henley on Thames
RG9 1ET

0 5 10 m

SECTION A-A' SECTION D-D'

SECTION B-B' SECTION E-E'

SECTION C-C'

P
age 41



Lock up
 store Shed

Yard

WILSON AVENUE

Site area
78.6 m2

22m2
10m2

Scale a A3

Drg.No

GIULIANI  ARCHITECTS
HENLEY ON THAMES  RG9 1ET UK
Email:           architects@giuliani.co.uk                         
Website:       www.giuliani.co.uk
Tel:                0044 1491 572601    

Notes

 1 : 100

Existing - Plan

Proposed:-
One Bedroom Dwelling

for:- Mrs Vivienne Wheeler

WA-VW-003

2A Wilson Avenue
Henley on Thames
RG9 1ET

0 5 10 m

P
age 42



2A
Proposed

2
Existing

190
Existing

188
Existing

North

Existing 'dropped kerb'

Scale at A3

Drg.No

GIULIANI  ARCHITECTS
HENLEY ON THAMES  RG9 1ET UK
Email:           architects@giuliani.co.uk                         
Website:       www.giuliani.co.uk
Tel:                0044 1491 572601    

Notes

 1 : 100

Plan Proposed Site

Proposed:-
One Bedroom Dwelling

for:- Mrs Vivienne Wheeler

.WA-VW-010B

2A Wilson Avenue
Henley on Thames
RG9 1ET

0 5 10 m

1   The suffix 'B' to the Drg. No. refers 
     to Amendments to the same 
     numbered drawing as per planning 
     application P21/S3570

P
age 43



Scale at A3

Drg.No

GIULIANI  ARCHITECTS
HENLEY ON THAMES  RG9 1ET UK
Email:           architects@giuliani.co.uk                         
Website:       www.giuliani.co.uk
Tel:                0044 1491 572601    

Notes

Sketch - Proposed

Proposed:-
One Bedroom Dwelling

for:- Mrs Vivienne Wheeler

.WA-VW-016B

2A Wilson Avenue
Henley on Thames
RG9 1ET

P
age 44



Scale a A3

DateDrg.No

GIULIANI  ARCHITECTS
HENLEY ON THAMES  RG9 1ET UK
Email:           architects@giuliani.co.uk                         
Website:       www.giuliani.co.uk
Tel:                0044 1491 572601    

Notes

Sketch view - Existing

Proposed:-
One Bedroom Dwelling

for:- Mrs Vivienne Wheeler

.WA-VW-015B

2A Wilson Avenue
Henley on Thames
RG9 1ET

P
age 45



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 14 December 2022 

 

 
 APPLICATION NO. P22/S3942/HH 
 APPLICATION TYPE HOUSEHOLDER 
 REGISTERED 2.11.2022 
 PARISH EAST HAGBOURNE 
 WARD MEMBER(S) Anne-Marie Simpson 

Jane Murphy 
 APPLICANT Mr Simon Kitson and Ms Emily Tucker 
 SITE 49 Bishops Orchard East Hagbourne, OX11 

9JS 
 PROPOSAL Conversion of existing garage to home office 

and store. 
 OFFICER Sharon Crawford 

 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL 
1.1 This report sets out the justification for the recommendation to grant planning 

permission having regard to the development plan and any other material 
planning considerations.  
 

1.2 The application is referred to the planning committee because the applicants 
are members of staff who work in the planning service. The Constitution 
requires the application to be determined by the Planning Committee. 
 

1.3 49 Bishops Orchard is a detached dwelling in a residential cul-de-sac off New 
Road in East Hagbourne. The Bishops Orchard development dates from the 
1990s. This part of the cul-de-sac and the front garden of 49 are at risk of 
surface water flooding in the 0.1% chance of happening in any given year 
category. Permitted development rights have been removed for garage 
conversions. The site is identified on the map extract attached at Appendix 1. 
 

  

 

Page 47

Agenda Item 10

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P22/S3942/HH


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 14 December 2022 

1.4 THE PROPOSAL. The application seeks planning permission for the 
conversion of the existing garage to a home office and store. Reduced copies 
of the plans accompanying the application are attached at Appendix 2. 

 

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 
2.1 Full copies of the representations are available on the Council’s website at 

www.southoxon.gov.uk under the planning reference number. 
 
East Hagbourne Parish Council – No objection 
 
Neighbour (1) - I have viewed the plans and have no objections. I fully support 
the application. 

 

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
3.1 P02/W0999 - Refused (21/01/2003) 

First floor extension above garage. 
 

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
4.1 N/A 

 

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE 
5.1 Development Plan Policies 

  
 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies: 

DES1  -  Delivering High Quality Development 
DES2  -  Enhancing Local Character 
DES6  -  Residential Amenity 
DES8  -  Promoting Sustainable Design 
ENV3  -  Biodiversity 
EP4  -  Flood Risk 
H20  -  Extensions to Dwellings 
INF4  -  Water Resources 
STRAT1  -  The Overall Strategy 
TRANS5  -  Consideration of Development Proposals 
 

5.2 Neighbourhood Plan 
 Relevant East Hagbourne Neighbourhood Plan Policies (EHNP): 

SD1 - Sustainable Development 
VC3 - Retaining smaller village character and promoting good design 
TA3 - Parking 
E2 - Protect and enhance biodiversity and the natural environment 
 

5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 
 South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse Joint Design Guide 2022 

 
5.4 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance 

 
5.5 Other Relevant Legislation 
 Human Rights Act 1998 

The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in 
the processing of the application and the preparation of this report. 

Page 48

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P02/W0999


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 14 December 2022 

 Equality Act 2010 
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. 

 

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
6.1 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 

70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 require that applications for 
planning permission be determined in accordance with the Development Plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan 
comprises the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) and the East 
Hagbourne Neighbourhood Plan (EHNP). 
 
The relevant planning considerations are the following: 
 

 Principle of development 

 Design and character 

 Residential amenity 

 Access and parking 

 Sustainable construction 

 CIL 
 

6.2 Principle of development. Policy H20 of the SOLP allows for extensions and 
alterations to existing dwellings subject to a number of criteria. The relevant 
factors to consider for this application is whether the proposal accords with the 
advice in the Joint Design Guide and whether there is adequate provision of 
parking on site. 
 

6.3 Planning permission is not generally required for garage conversions but 
permitted development rights to carry out garage conversions have been 
removed to ensure that adequate parking provision is retained in the cul-de-
sac. Planning permission has been granted for a number of other partial garage 
conversions in Bishops Orchard where the garages are double garages (48, 47, 
31, 18, 17, 10 and 7). 
 

6.4  Design and character. Policy DES1 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that all new 
development is of a high-quality design. Policy DES2 of the SOLP requires all 
new development to be designed to reflect the positive features that make up 
the character of the local area and should both physically and visually enhance 
and complement the surroundings. Policy VC3 of the EHNP echoes these 
policies and requires new development to respect the character of the village. 
 

   

Page 49



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 14 December 2022 

  
  
6.5 The proposal involves replacing the existing garage door with a window and 

brick infill. The window detail on the existing front windows is to be duplicated 
and the bricks will match those on the rest of the building. The development is 
in keeping with the character of the existing dwelling and the area in general 
and accords with the design policies of the SOLP and The EHNP. 
 

6.6 Residential amenity. DES6 of the SOLP aims to protect the amenity of 
neighbouring uses from loss of privacy or day/sunlight, visual intrusion, noise, 
contamination or external lighting.  
 

6.7 The changes to the front elevation are minor and are not unneighbourly. The 
proposal accords with Policy DES6. 
 

6.8 Access and parking.  Policy TRANS5 of the SOLP requires that all 
development provides safe and convenient access and parking. Policy H20 of 
the SOLP also seeks to ensure adequate parking provision. Policy TA3 of the 
EHNP requires adequate provision to be made for parking. 
 

6.9 In this case, there is a driveway in front of the existing garage that can 
accommodate 1 car. In addition, the front garden has been gravelled for the 
parking of cars and can accommodate at least one other car, giving a total of 
two spaces. The site meets the Oxfordshire County Council’s minimum 
standards for parking for a dwelling of this size. The proposal accords with 
Policy TRANS5 of the SOLP and TA3 the EHNP. 
 

6.10 Sustainable construction. DES8 of the SOLP aims to ensure that all new 
development, including building conversions, refurbishments and extensions, 
should seek to minimise the carbon and energy impacts of their design and 
construction. Policy SD1 of the EHNP echoes this policy. 
 

6.11 The garage conversion is to a fixed part of the dwelling with limited scope for 
reducing greenhouse emissions beyond Part L of Building Control Regulations. 
There is no conflict with Policy DES8 of the SOLP or SD1 of the ENP in my 
view. 
 

6.12 Community Infrastructure Levy. The proposal is not liable for CIL as the 
floorspace created is below 100 square metres in size. 

 

Page 50



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 14 December 2022 

7.0 CONCLUSION 
7.1 Officers recommend that planning permission is granted for the conversion of 

the existing garage. The scale and design of the proposed development is in 
keeping with the character of the building and the surrounding area and would 
not materially harm the amenity of neighbouring properties. In conjunction with 
the attached conditions, the proposal accords with relevant planning policy. 

 

8.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 To grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions. 

 
 1 : Commencement 3 yrs - Full Planning Permission 

2 : Approved plans * 
3 : Materials as on plan 
Informative re : East Hagbourne NP policies 
 

 Author:         Sharon Crawford 
E-mail :         planning@southoxon.gov.uk  
Contact No:  01235 422600 
 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 51

mailto:planning@southoxon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 53

Agenda Item 10P22/S3942/HH

SAV_SHACRA
Typewriter
Appendix 1

SAV_SHACRA_1
Arrow

SAV_SHACRA_2
Textbox
The Site



Page 54

SAV_SHACRA_3
Typewriter
Appendix 2



49, Bishops Orchard, East Hagbourne, Didcot, Oxfordshire, OX11 9JS

Block Plan shows area bounded by: 452919.02, 189198.0 452955.02, 189234.0 (at a scale of 1:200), OSGridRef: SU52938921.  The representation of a road, track or path is no evidence of a right of
way. The representation of features as lines is no evidence of a property boundary.

Produced on 28th Sep 2022 from the Ordnance Survey National Geographic Database and incorporating surveyed revision available at this date. Reproduction in whole or part is prohibited without the
prior permission of Ordnance Survey. © Crown copyright 2022.  Supplied by https://www.buyaplan.co.uk digital mapping a licensed Ordnance Survey partner (100053143).  Unique plan reference:
#00765830-A6E336

Ordnance Survey and the OS Symbol are registered trademarks of Ordnance Survey, the national mapping agency of Great Britain.  Buy A Plan logo, pdf design and the www.buyaplan.co.uk website
are Copyright © Pass Inc Ltd 2022

Existing 
gravelled area

Existing 
parking

Existing 
parking

Proposed 
garage 
conversion

Page 55

SAV_TRABAT
Typewriter
SIP 002

SAV_SHACRA_4
Typewriter




Page 56

SAV_SHACRA_5
Typewriter



	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	Minutes

	8 P19/S4319/FUL - Gillotts School Gillotts Lane Henley-on-Thames, RG9 1PS
	Appendices A-B
	Appendix A - Location Plan
	Appendix B - Part 2 Class A


	9 P22/S2870/FUL - 2A Wilson Avenue, Henley on Thames, RG9 1ET
	Appendices A-B
	A.1 8796b1dc93d14994af63bf4edd870337
	B.1 Block Plan drwgno WA-VW-002
	Sheets
	WA-VW-002 - Site Plan


	B.2 Elevations North East & North West Existing drwgno WA-VW-004
	Sheets
	WA-VW-004 - Existing elevations


	B.3 Elevations Proposed drwgno WA-VW-013B
	Sheets
	WA-VW-013B - Proposed Elevations
	WA-VW-014B - Proposed Sections A-A'/B-B'/C-C'/D-D'/E-E'


	B.4 Elevations South East & South West Existing drwgno WA-VW-005 (1)
	Sheets
	WA-VW-001 - Location plan
	WA-VW-002 - Site Plan
	WA-VW-003 - Existing - Plan
	WA-VW-004 - Existing elevations
	WA-VW-005 - Existing-  Elevations                                           South East & South West
	WA-VW-006 - Sketch - Existing
	WA-VW-010 - Plan Proposed Site 1-100
	WA-VW-011 - Plan Proposed - Ground & Level 1
	WA-VW-012 - Plan Proposed Level -1
	WA-VW-013 - Proposed Elevations
	WA-VW-014 - Proposed Sections A-A'/B-B'/C-C'/D-D'/E-E'
	WA-VW-015 - Sketch - Proposed


	B.5 Floor Plan Ground & level 1 Proposed drwgno WA-VW-011B
	Sheets
	WA-VW-011B - Plan Proposed - Ground & Level 1


	B.6 Floor Plan Proposed Level 1 & 2 drwgno WA-VW-012B
	Sheets
	WA-VW-012B - Plan Proposed Level -1 & -2


	B.7 Location Plan drwgno WA-VW-001
	Sheets
	WA-VW-001 - Location plan
	WA-VW-002 - Site Plan
	WA-VW-003 - Existing - Plan
	WA-VW-004 - Existing elevations
	WA-VW-005 - Existing-  Elevations                                           South East & South West
	WA-VW-006 - Sketch - Existing
	WA-VW-010 - Plan Proposed Site 1-100
	WA-VW-011 - Plan Proposed - Ground & Level 1
	WA-VW-012 - Plan Proposed Level -1
	WA-VW-013 - Proposed Elevations
	WA-VW-014 - Proposed Sections A-A'/B-B'/C-C'/D-D'/E-E'
	WA-VW-015 - Sketch - Proposed


	B.8 Section Plans Proposed drwgno WA-VW-014B
	Sheets
	WA-VW-013B - Proposed Elevations
	WA-VW-014B - Proposed Sections A-A'/B-B'/C-C'/D-D'/E-E'


	B.9 Site Plan Existing drwgno  WA-VW-003
	Sheets
	WA-VW-003 - Existing - Plan


	B.10 Site Plan Proposed drwgno WA-VW-010B
	Sheets
	WA-VW-010B - Plan Proposed Site
	WA-VW-011B - Plan Proposed - Ground & Level 1
	WA-VW-015B - Sketch - Proposed


	B.11 Sketch Proposed drwgno WA-VW-016B
	Sheets
	WA-VW-015B - Sketch view - Existing
	WA-VW-016B - Sketch - Proposed


	B.12 Sketch View  Existing drwgno WA-VW-015B
	Sheets
	WA-VW-015B - Sketch view - Existing
	WA-VW-016B - Sketch - Proposed




	10 P22/S3942/HH - 49 Bishops Orchard East Hagbourne, OX11 9JS
	Appendices 1-2
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2.1 Elevations Existing and Proposed
	Appendix 2.2 Site Plan with Parking
	Appendix 2.3 Floor Plan Garage Proposed





